BYLAWS OF WINGFIELD GLEN HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

ARTICLE I - NAME AND LOCATION

The name of the corporation is WINGFIELD GLEN HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., hereinafter referred to as the "Association." The initial principal office of the corporation shall be located at 7865 Southside Boulevard, Jacksonville, Florida 32256, but meetings of Members and directors may be held at such places within Duval or St. Johns County, Florida, as may be designated by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS

All capitalized terms set forth herein, except as specifically set forth herein, shall have the same meaning and definition as set forth in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for Wingfield Glen to be recorded in the public records of St. Johns County, Florida, as such may be modified and supplemented from time to time ("Declaration").

ARTICLE III - MEETING OF MEMBERS

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Annual Meetings</u>. The regular meetings of the Members shall be held on a designated day of November of each year hereafter, at the hour designated by the Board of Directors in the notice provided hereinbelow.

Section 2. Special Meeting. Special meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President or by the Board of Directors, or upon written request of the Members who are entitled to vote one-fourth (1/4) of all of the votes of the Class A Membership. Business conducted at a special meeting is limited to the purposes described in the meeting notice.

Section 3. Notice of Meeting.

(a) Written notice of each meeting of the Members shall be given by or at the direction of the Secretary or person authorized to call the meeting by hand delivery to each Lot, or by mailing a copy of such notice, postage prepaid, addressed to the Member's address last appearing on the books of the Association for the purpose of notice, at least fifteen (15) days but no more than ninety (90) days before such meeting, to each Member entitled to vote thereat. Said notice shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose of the meeting. If mailed, the notice shall be addressed to the Member's

address last appearing in the books of the Association for the purpose of notice, or to the last address supplied by the Member to the Association.

(b) Any Member may waive such notice by a writing signed by such Member, and such waiver, when filed in the records of the Association before, at or after the holding of the meeting, shall constitute notice to such Member. Attendance of a Member at a meeting, either in person or by proxy, constitutes waiver of notice and waiver of any and all objection to the place of meeting, the time of meeting, or the manner in which it has been called or convened, unless the Member attends the meeting solely for the purpose of stating, at the beginning of the meeting, any such objection or objections to the transaction of affairs.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Voting.</u> Members shall be entitled to such votes as more fully set forth in the Articles. Matters shall be deemed approved if approved by a majority of votes represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present.

Decisions that require a vote of the Members must be made by the concurrence of Members holding at least a majority of the votes present in person or by proxy, represented at a meeting at which a quorum has been attained.

Section 5. Quorum. The presence at the meeting of Members or proxies entitled to vote thirty percent (30%) of the votes of Membership shall constitute a quorum for any action, except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, the Declaration, or these Bylaws.

Section 6. Proxies. At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the Secretary. Proxies shall be dated, state the date, time, and place of the meeting for which it was given and be signed by the person authorized to give the proxy. A proxy may permit the holder to appoint in writing a substitute holder. Any proxy shall be effective only for the specific meeting for which originally given and any lawfully adjourned meetings thereof. A proxy is not valid for a period longer that ninety (90) days after the date of the first meeting for which it was given. A proxy is revocable at any time at the pleasure of the Member who executes it. Proxies need not be notarized.

Section 7. Waiver and Consent. Whenever the vote of Members at a meeting is required or permitted, the meeting and vote may be dispensed with if the applicable percentage of the Members who would have been required to vote upon the action if such meeting were held, shall consent in writing to such action being taken. Any such consent shall be distributed in accordance with the rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors and an executed copy shall be placed in the minute book.

Section 8. Order of Business. The order of business at the annual meeting of Members shall be as follows:

- a. Call to order
- b. Calling of the roll and certifying proxies

- c. Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice
- d. Reading and disposal of unapproved minutes
- e. Election or appointment of inspectors of election
- f. Nomination and election of Board of Directors
- g. Reports
- h. Unfinished business
- i. Adjournment.

Section 9. Adjournment. The adjournment of an annual or special meeting to a different date, time or place must be announced at that meeting before adjournment is taken or notice must be given of the new time, date or place in the same manner as notice is given for such meeting. Any business that might have been transacted on the original date of the meeting may be transacted at the adjourned meeting. If a new record date for the adjourned meeting is or must be fixed, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given to persons who are entitled to vote and are Members as of the new record date but were not Members as of the previous record date.

ARTICLE IV - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Number of Directors. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of Directors of not less than three (3) but not more than seven (7) Directors, who shall be Members of the Association; provided, however, that until the Class B Membership has terminated the Directors need not be Members of the Association. All Directors shall be elected or appointed in accordance with the applicable provisions contained in the Articles of Incorporation of the Association and herein.

Section 2. Method of Nomination. Until Turnover (as more fully dined in the Declaration), the Board shall consist of Directors appointed by the Class B Member. After Turnover, the persons to be elected by the Class A Members shall be made by a nominating committee or from the floor by Members at the annual meeting.

Section 3. Election. After Turnover, the Members may cast one vote for each Lot or Reconfigured Lot owned in respect to each vacancy. An election shall be by secret written ballot. Cumulative voting is not permitted. The election of Directors shall take place at the annual meeting and Members may vote in person at a meeting or by ballot that the Member personally casts prior to such meeting. Those persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. At the first annual meeting after Turnover, the Class A Members shall elect one third (1/3) of the Directors to be elected by the Class A Members for a term of one (1) year, one third (1/3) of the Directors to be elected by the Class A Members for a term of two (2) years and one third (1/3) of the Directors to be elected by the Class A Members for a term of three (3) years (should the membership of the Board not be divisible by three, then the classes of Directors shall be made as nearly equal as possible). Thereafter, all Directors to be elected by the Class A Members shall be elected for a three (3) year term, it being the intent that the terms of the Directors should be staggered. Provided however, for so long as the Class B

Member has the right to appoint the minority of the Directors or at least one Director, the Class B Member shall appoint and replace such persons at its sole discretion.

Section 4. Resignation and Removal. A Director may resign at any time by delivery of a written notice to the Board of Directors, its chairman or secretary. The unexcused absence of a Director from three consecutive regular meetings of the Board shall be deemed a resignation. Any Director elected by the Class A Members may be removed from the Board, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Members of the Association. No director appointed by the Class B Member shall be removed except by the Class B Member. A resignation is effective when notice is delivered, unless notice specifies a later effective date. If a resignation is made effective at a later date, the Board of Directors may fill the pending vacancy before the effective date if the Board of Directors provides that the successor does not take office until the effective date.

<u>Section 5.</u> Compensation. No Director shall receive compensation for any service he may render to the Association. However, any Director may be reimbursed for his actual expenses incurred in the performance of his duties.

Section 6. Action Taken Without a Meeting. To the extent permitted by law, the Directors shall have the right to take any action in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written approval of all of the Directors. Any action so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at a meeting of the Directors.

Section 7. Failure to Fill Vacancies. If there is a failure to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors sufficient to constitute a quorum of Directors in accordance with these Bylaws, any Member may apply to the Circuit Court of St. Johns County, Florida, for the appointment of a receiver to manage the affairs of the Association by certified or registered mail. At least thirty (30) days before applying to the circuit court, the Member shall mail to the Association and post in a conspicuous place on the Common Property a notice describing the intended action, giving the Association thirty (30) days to fill the vacancies. If during such time the Association fails to fill a sufficient number of the vacancies so that a quorum can be assembled, the Member may proceed with the petition. If a receiver is appointed, the Association shall be responsible for the salary of the receiver, court costs, attorney's fees and all other expenses of the receivership. The receiver has all powers and duties of a duly constituted board of directors and shall serve until the Association fills sufficient vacancies so that a quorum can be assembled.

ARTICLE V - MEETING OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Organizational Meeting. The newly elected Board shall meet for the purposes of organization, the election of officers and the transaction of other business immediately after their election or within ten days of same at such place and time as shall be fixed by the Directors at the meeting at which they were elected, and no further notice of the organizational meeting shall be necessary.

<u>Section 2.</u> Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board, and shall be open to all Members. Except that meeting between the Board and its attorney with respect to proposed or pending litigation where the contents of the discussion would otherwise be governed by attorney client privilege may be closed to Members.

Notice of the meetings of the Directors shall be posted on the Common Property at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance, except in an emergency. in the alternative, if notice is not posted in a conspicuous place on the Common Property, the notice of Board meetings shall be mailed or delivered to each Member at least seven (7) days in advance, except in an emergency. Notice of any meeting in which Assessments against Lots are to be established shall specifically contain a statement that Assessments shall be considered and a statement of the nature of such Assessments. Should said meeting fall upon a legal holiday, then that meeting shall be held at the same time on the next day which is not a legal holiday.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held when called by the President of the Association, or by any two Directors, after not less than three (3) days' notice to each Director.

Section 4. Quorum. A majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. A meeting at which a quorum of the Directors is present shall be deemed to be a meeting. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the Directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board. If a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a majority of the Members is the act of the Board of Directors. A Director who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors when corporate action is taken is deemed to have assented unless he or she objects, at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his arrival, to the holding of the meeting or transacting of specified affairs at the meeting, or unless he or she votes against or abstains from the action taken.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>Voting.</u> Directors may not vote by proxy or by secret ballot at Board meetings, except that secret ballots may be used in the election of officers.

ARTICLE VI - POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Powers. The Board of Directors shall have power to:

- (a) Adopt and publish rules and regulations including fees, if any, governing the use of the Common Property and the personal conduct of the Members and their guests thereon.
- (b) Suspend the right of an Owner to use the Common Property during any period in which the Owner shall be in default for more than thirty (30) days after notice of the payment of any Assessment is levied by the Association. Such rights may also be suspended from

Members, after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days for infraction of the Declaration, Article or Bylaws.

- (c) Appoint such committees as prescribed herein and such other committees as the Board of Directors may, from time to time, deem necessary or appropriate.
- (d) Enforce and administer all of the provisions of the Declaration and the rules and regulations.
- Section 2. Duties. It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to perform the following:
- (a) Cause to be kept a complete record of all its corporate affairs, including minutes of all meetings, make such records available for inspection by any Member or his agent, and present an annual statement thereof to the Members. Minutes of all meetings of Members and the Board must be maintained in a written form or in another form that can be converted into written form in a reasonable time. A vote or abstention from voting on each matter for each Director present at a Board meeting must be recorded in the minutes.
- (b) Supervise all officers, agents and employees of the Association and see that their duties are properly performed.
- (c) Issue, or authorize its agent to issue, upon demand by any Member, a certificate setting forth whether or not any Assessment has been paid and giving evidence thereof for which a reasonable charge may be made by the Association or by its authorized agent.
- (d) Designate depositories for Association funds, designate those officers, agents and/or employees who shall have authority to withdraw funds from such account on behalf of the Association, and cause such persons to be bonded as the Board of Directors deems appropriate in its sole discretion.
- (e) Prepare the proposed annual budget, submit the same to the Membership for comments, and approve the annual budget.
- (f) Fix General Assessments, Special Assessments, and Lot Assessments at an amount sufficient to meet the obligations imposed by the Declaration.
- (g) Annually adopt the budget and set the date or dates Assessments will be due, and decide what, if any, interest is to be applied to Assessments which remain unpaid ten (10) days after they become due.
- (h) Send written notice of each Assessment to every Owner subject thereto at least thirty (30) days in advance of the due date of the Assessment or of the first installment thereof.

- (i) Cause the lien against any Lot for which Assessments are not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date to be foreclosed, or cause an action at law to be brought against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same.
 - (j) Cause the Common Property to be maintained in accordance with the Declaration.
- (k) Procure and maintain adequate liability and hazard insurance on the Common Property as required by the Declaration, and such other insurance as the Board of Directors deems necessary or as may be required or permitted by the Declaration.
- (1) Enter into mortgage agreements and obtain capital debt financing, subject to the provisions of the Declaration and Articles.
- (m) Retain minutes of all meetings of Members and of the Board of Directors in a businesslike manner, which shall be available for inspection by Members or their authorized representatives and Board members, at reasonable times and for a proper purpose; which records shall be retained for at least seven (7) years.

ARTICLE VII - OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

- Section 1. Enumeration of Officers. The officers of this Association shall be a President and Vice President, who shall at all times be members of the Board of Directors, a Secretary and a Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time by resolution create. Officers need not be Members of the Association.
- <u>Section 2.</u> <u>Election of Officers</u>. The election of officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the Members. Voting may be by secret ballot.
- Section 3. Term. The officers of this Association shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors and each shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may determine from time to time.
- Section 4. Special Appointments. The Board of Directors may elect such other officers as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may determine from time to time.
- Section 5. Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office with or without cause by the Board of Directors. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors, the President, or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall be necessary to make it effective.

Section 6. Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filled by appointment by the Board of Directors. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he replaces.

Section 7. Multiple Offices. The offices of President and Secretary may not be held by the same person.

Section 8. Duties. The duties of the officers are as follows:

- (a) <u>President</u>. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried out; shall sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other written instruments; and shall co-sign all promissory notes and contracts as the Board of Directors may approve from time to time.
- (b) <u>Vice President</u>. The Vice President shall act in the place and stead of the President in the event of his absence, inability or refusal to act, and shall exercise and discharge such other duties as may be required of him by the Board.
- (c) <u>Secretary</u>. The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings and proceedings of the Board of Directors and of the Members; maintain the minute book; keep the corporate seal of the Association and affix it on all papers requiring said seal; serve notice of meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Members; keep appropriate current records showing the Members of the Association together with their addresses; and shall perform such other duties as required by the Board.
- (d) Treasurer. The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board of Directors; shall co-sign any promissory notes and contracts of the Association; keep proper books of account; cause an annual review of the Association books to be made by public accountant at the completion of each fiscal year; and shall prepare an annual budget and a statement of income and expenditures to be presented to the Board of Directors and to the membership at its regular annual meetings.

ARTICLE VIII - COMMITTEES

The Association shall appoint such committees as are provided in the Declaration and shall appoint other committees as deemed appropriate in carrying out its purpose.

Meetings of committee shall be open to Members. Members of the committees may not vote by proxy or secret ballot.

ARTICLE IX - FISCAL YEAR

The Fiscal Year of the Association shall begin on the first day of January and end on the thirty-first day of December of every year, except that the first Fiscal Year shall begin on the date of incorporation.

ARTICLE X - BUDGETS AND ASSESSMENTS

Section 1. Budgets. The Association shall prepare an annual budget. The budget shall reflect the estimated revenues and expenses for that year and the estimated surplus or deficit as of the end of the current year. The budget must set our separately all fees or charges for recreational amenities. The Association shall provide each Member with a copy of the annual budget or a written notice that a copy of the budget is available to the Member upon request with no charge.

Section 2. Assessments. As more fully provided in the Declaration, each Member is obligated to pay to the Association certain Assessments which are secured by a continuing lien upon the property against which the Assessment is made. Any Assessments which are not paid when due shall be delinquent. The Assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at an interest rate equal to the highest rate allowed by law, or as otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. The Association may bring an action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same or foreclose the lien against the Lot, and interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees of any Assessment. No Owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the Assessments provided for herein by nonuse of the Common Property or abandonment of his Lot.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Financial Reports.</u> The Association shall prepare and annual financial report with sixty (60) days after the close of the fiscal year. The financial report shall comply with the applicable provisions of Florida Law.

ARTICLE XI - NOTICE OF TRANSFER

Prior to conveyance of any Lot to an Owner, such Owner shall provide to the Association written notice of the party to whom the Lot is to be conveyed together with an address for such new Owner for Association records.

ARTICLE XII - ASSOCIATION RECORDS

In accordance with the requirement of Section 617.303(4), the Official Records of the Association shall consist of:

Section 1. General Records.

- (a) A copy of any plans, permits, warranties, and other items related to improvements constructed on the Common Property or other property which the Association is obligated to maintain, repair or replace.
 - (b) A copy of the Bylaws of the Association and of each amendment to the Bylaws.
- (c) A certified copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, or other documents creating the Association, and of each amendment thereto.
 - (d) A copy of the Declaration of Covenants and of each amendment thereto.
 - (e) A copy of the current rules of the Association.
- (f) A book or books that contain the minutes of all meetings of the Association, of the Board of Directors, and of Members, which minutes shall be retained for a period of not less than seven (7) years.
- (g) A current roster of all Members and their mailing addresses, Lot identifications, and, if known, telephone numbers.
 - (h) All current insurance policies of the Association, or a copy thereof.
- (i) A current copy of any management agreement, lease, or other contract to which the Association is a party or under which the Association or the Members have an obligation or responsibility.
- (j) A copy of all bids received by the Association for work to be performed, which must be retained for one (1) year.
- <u>Section 2.</u> <u>Financial Records.</u> Accounting records for the Association and separate accounting records for each Lot, according to generally accepted accounting principles. All accounting records shall be maintained for a period of not less than seven (7) years. The financial records shall include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Accurate, itemized, and detailed records of all receipts and expenditures.
- (b) A current and a periodic statement of the account for each Member of the Association, designating the name and address of the Member, the due date and amount of each Assessment, the amount paid upon the account, and the balance due.
 - (c) All tax returns, financial statements and financial reports of the Association.

(d) Any other records that identify, measure, record or communicate financial information.

Section 3. Inspection and Copying of Records. The foregoing official records shall be maintained within the State and must be open to inspection and available for photocopying by Members or their authorized agents at reasonable times and places within ten (10) business days after receipt of a written request for access. The Association may adopt reasonable rules and regulations governing the frequency, time, location, notice and manner of inspections and may impose fees to cover the costs of providing copies of official records.

ARTICLE XIII - AMENDMENT

Section 1. Procedure. Until Turnover, these Bylaws may be amended by the Class B Member without the consent or joinder of any Class B Member. Thereafter, these Bylaws may be amended at a regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors by a majority vote of the Directors. Amendments to these Bylaws need only be filed in the minute book, and need not be recorded in the public records of the County.

Section 2. Conflict. In the case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation shall prevail. In the case of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall prevail.

ARTICLE XIV - SEAL

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Seal.</u> The seal of the Association is hereby adopted in the form affixed hereto including the name of the Association, the words "Corporation Not For Profit" and the year of incorporation.

These Bylaws have been adopted in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, as amended in 1994. To the extent that the provisions of that Chapter are amended or modified in a manner which is inconsistent herewith or which expands or clarifies any provisions hereof, the amendments or modifications of Chapter 617 shall prevail.

The foregoing Bylaws of Wingfield Glen Homeowners Association, Inc., a corporation not-for-profit under the laws of the State of Florida, were adopted at the first meeting of the Board of Directors on the day of free day of Septem 1998.

Secretary

Gary D. Silverfield

JAX1-318938